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The Phelps Dodge General Office Building served as head-
quarters for copper mining and smelting activitles that proved
pivotal in the company's evolution from a family-dominated
partnership into a "modern" corporation which moved in step
with the changing character of American business in the late
19th and early 20th centuries. Moreover, the structure is the
only important early Phelps Dodge office extant in the entire
United States. From the mid 1850's until the late 1880's
Phelps Dodge's national headquarters were situated on Cliff
Street (variously at number 11 and number 21) in New York City.
Afterward they were at 315 West Street for approximately 10
years and then at 99 John Street for many more years. None of
the structures that housed these headquarters remain.

Phelps Dodge erected the Bisbee General Office Bullding in
1895. It stands at the entrance to famed Brewery Gulch and
consists of a southward-facing, rectangular-shaped, gable-roofed,
two-story mailn block which measures 29 by 90 feet; a small, one-
story, rectangular east wing added about 1914; and a pair of
two-story, hip-roofed, octagonal bays which rise along the
east and west extremes of the front facade of the main block.

All four sections are constructed of red brick, and all rest on
foundation walls and footings of stone carefully placed in un-
reinforced brick masonry. All the bricks are of sand construction,
and so the building has always been painted its present red color
to protect against rapld deterioration. The office roof 1is

covered with grayish-colored corrugated iron, which replaces
original standing seam galvanized iron.

All window and door openings in the office are semi-
circularly arched and constructed of white-painted brick. Most
windows are double-hung one-over-one wood sashes. Those on the
first floor and in the bays are paired. Those on the second
floor are single, except in the gable ends, where they are also
paired. The east wing features mostly tripartite one-over-one
sashes. All the windows have elther single or multipaned round-
arched transoms. All also feature stone lugsills. On the
second floor a white-painted brick belt course connects each
window arch.

Main entrance to the building is via a wood-and-glass double
door situated in the center of the front facade under a hip-
roofed shed that features a round-arched entry and shelters a
stoop accessible by a set of concrete steps. Beneath the arch
hangs a sign bearing the legend: "Bisbee Civic Center--Mining
and Historical Museum." A similar entry admits to the rear
facade, and another, minus shed, admits to the south end of the

east wing. Other notable external decorative features include
(continued)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Although best known for its piloneering role in Western
copper mining, Phelps Dodge is, as historian Robert G. Cleland
has suggested, an even more telling symbol of overall American
economic growth and development. Few enterprlses spanned so
significant a period of economic change or so clearly reflected
the late 19th and early 20th-century economic transformations
that placed the United States in the forefront of the modern
industrial world.

Founded in 1834, Phelps Dodge "grew as the nation grew,"
says Cleland. "Its activities were not limited to one particular
locallity or one restricted field."l The firm's roots were in
the mercantile economy that prospered along the Atlantic sea-
board in the early 19th century. By the 1850's it had become
a leading New York mercantile house and the largest importer of
metals (primarily tin and tin plate) in the United States.
Without yielding its recognized leadership in the export-limport
trade, Phelps Dodge then began to shift capital acquired in its
commercial ventures into manufacturing, railroads, timber, and
other enterprises desligned to take advantage of the expanding
economy of the last half of the 19th century. For example, the
firm became a leading supplier of copper wire, tin cans, and
other metal wares basic to the technological advances of the
post-Civil War period. In the 1880's Phelps Dodge underwent a
basic reorientation, embarking upon one of the initilal copper
mining ventures in Arizona and thereby moving into the main-
stream of the new industrialized economy and helping lead the
way in expansion of the Trans-Mississippi West. Then, in the
20th century the firm shifted from a family-dominated partner-
ship to a new corporate structure in line with the managerial
innovations of the perlod and applied the blg business tenets
of vertical and horizontal integration. In doing so the company
confirmed its commitment to the new economic order and became
an integral part of the merger or combination movement that
was reshaping the structure of American business and industry.

(continued)

lRobert Glass Cleland, A History of Phelps Dodge, 1834-1950
(New York, 1952), 271
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brick quoins on the main block, circular vents with white-
painted brick molding and keystones in the gable ends, and
stepped brick cornices, also in the gable ends.

Inside, the building features walls and celllings covered
largely with painted, narrow board siding. The front doors
open into an entry hall whose west wall features an original
oak-and-glass post-office-type front. To the right of the
entry hall, office space has been converted into a museum
exhibit hall. To the left are the former mine superintendent's
office and general manager's office. These have been restored
to thelr initial architectural splendor and exhibit original
golden oak woodwork. Another first-floor room houses the
museum library. Upstalirs are several additional rooms of
various sizes. They house an oral history project, photography
laboratory, exhibit workroom, and meeting room. Between 1897
and 1910 the Perfect Ashlar Lodge No. 12 F & AM met in the latter.

Phelps Dodge used the General Office Building from its
completion until 1961, when Cochise County began renting it as
quarters for the county welfare department and the American
Red Cross. In 1970 the structure served temporarily as local
quarters for the U.S. Postal Service. The following year it
was conveyed to the city for use as a mining museum under the
control of the Bisbee Councill on the Arts and Humanities. This
organization coordinated restorative activities and installed
museum facillities in the buillding. Never significantly altered,
the now-restored structure stands in the center of Bisbee's
historic district as a striking monument to the growth and
development of Phelps Dodge in the Southwest and the Nation.

GPO 892 455
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This pattern of growth and adaptation, so crucial to
American econamic development over the past 150 years, bears
out Cleland's contention that in essence the history of Phelps
Dodge "was part_of the very warp and woof of the nation's
economic 1life."2

As the headquarters for copper mining and smelting
activities that were basic to these developments, the Phelps
Dodge General Office Building is an impressive symbol of the
sweeping economic transformations of the late 19th and early
20th centuries and the success of Phelps Dodge in meeting those
challenges and emerging as a modern industrial glant. Moreover,
the building is the only important early Phelps Dodge office
extant in the entire country. The two-story, red brick, gable-
roofed structure was erected at the entrance to Bisbee's now-
famous Brewery Gulch in 1895 by the Copper Queen Consolidated
Mining Company, a division of Phelps Dodge. Utllized by the
firm until 1961, and now restored, the office serves at present
as a mining museum.

History

Phelps Dodge traces its beginnings back to about 1800 and
the saddle~making shop of Anson Greene Phelps in Hartford,
Conn. In 1913 industrialist Andrew Carnegile cited Phelps as
an example of a successful businessman who worked his way up
from poverty, and indeed he did. Soon after opening his
saddle-making shop, he added a general merchandise line, then
expanded hls entrepreneurlal activities to include general
import-export trade, and finally specialized after the War of
1812 in the highly profitable export of Southern cotton and
import of British tin, iron, copper, and textiles, a classic
trade pattern of the early 19th century. Economic historians

(continued)

2

Ibid.
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Glenn Porter and Harold C. Livesay consider this kind of
career an instructive example of mercantile specialization
and adaptation of "the techniques of the traditional economy
to the new industrial environment" in the period after 1815.

With his trade activities expanded, Phelps formed a
partnership with fellow New Englander Elisha Peck In New York
in 1821. The partnership was short-lived, however, for in
1834 Phelps bought out Peck and formed a new partnership with
sons-in-law William E. Dodge and Daniel James. Later Phelps
brought in his son, Anson G. Phelps, Jr., (1838) and another
son-in-law, James Stokes, (1853). This Phelps, Dodge, and
Company partnership was the first form of the business enter-
prise that would become the Phelps Dodge Corporation in the
early 20th century.

By the middle of the 19th century Phelps, Dodge, and
Company was a highly respected and prominent New York mercantile
firm and, according to Cleland, "carrled on the largest business
in metals of any mercantile house in the United States and
probably in the world." But the firm was eager to share as
well in the growing profits from domestic manufacturing. Anson
Phelps had taken the first step in the 1840's when he established
the Ansonia Manufacturing Company in Naugatuck Valley, Conn., in
order to lnsure an outlet for the copper and brass imported by
his firm. After Phelps' death in 1853, the company continued to
expand and took a leading role in the formation of such dlverse
enterprises as the Georgia Land and Lumber Company; the
Lackawanna Coal and Iron Company; the Delaware, Lackawanna, and
Western Rallroad; the Amerlican Tin Plate Company; and the
American Can Company. In his history of the firm, Cleland
describes 1ts plvotal role in the economy Just after the Civil
War: "The company supplied the wire for the first trans-
continental telegraph line in 1861, sold nearly a million dollars

(continued)

3Glenn Porter and Harold C. Livesay, Merchants and
Manufacturers: Studlies in the Changing Structure of Nineteenth-
Century Marketing (Baltimore, 1971), 36.

HCleland, History of Phelps Dodge, 37. <;:::>
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worth of newly invented sewing-machines to English customers,
supplied tin cans for the 'coal-oll' or kerosene with which
another merchant named John D. Rockefeller was beginning to
light American homes; and manufactured the br%ss lamps in

which most of the new illuminant was burned." Looking at

these developments, historian Elisha P. Douglass concludes in
his study of American business that Phelps Dodge '"reached 1its
position of eminence. . . by the familiar process in nineteenth-
century America whereby caplital and entrepreneurial ta%ent was
transferred from mercantile to industrial enterprise."”

The most notable such transfer of talent did not come for
Phelps Dodge until the 1880's, when the firm made its initilal
investment in Arizona copper mining, a step that eventually
led to a total cessation of all the company's earlier mercantile
activities and a shift of its major interests nearly three-
fourths of the way across the continent. The man most responsible
for this was James Douglas, a Canadian metallurgist and mining
engineer and later president of Phelps Dodge's mining enterprises.
Phelps Dodge executives had discussed the newly found copper
sources in Arizona with the owners of the Clifton-Morenci mine,
the first copper mine to be developed in the State (1877), but
it was Douglas's reports on the Arizona copper mines and his
enthusiasm about the potentials of the Bisbee area that con-
vinced the company to make its initial investment in 1881. The
first copper discovery in the Bisbee area had been made as early
as 1875, but no claim had been made until an army scout named
Jack Dunn staked one in 1877 for what later became the Copper
Queen mine. The title for the mine soon passed into the hands
of a group of San Francisco financilers, who began active mining
in 1880 as the Copper Queen Mining Company. Douglas convinced
Phelps Dodge to buy the adjoining Atlanta claim in 1881, but by
1884 it was evident that continuing conflicts over mineral
rights and boundaries would hinder full exploltation of the
evidently rich copper deposits. Consequently, in 1885 a merger
was accomplished under the auspices of Phelps, Dodge, and
Company. The newly formed Copper Queen Consolidated Mining

(continued)

5Ibid., 57-58.

6Elisha P. Douglass, The Coming of Age of American Business:
Three Centuries of Enterprise, 1600-1900 (Chapel Hil1l, 1971), 39ﬁ.
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Company was, as Cleland puts it, "destined to acquire almost
legendary fame in the history of American copper mining."7
The formatlon of the mining company also signaled the further
shift of Phelps Dodge away from its traditional mercantile
interests and toward the new forces of industrialization and
expansion.

According to a 1913 article 1n the Bisbee Daily Review,
Phelps Dodge's Copper Queen venture '"really marked the beginning
of systematic, scientific and permanent gevelopment of the
great Arizona copper mining enterprise.” The New York firm
was indeed thorough in 1ts new undertaking, expanding existing
mining operations, authorizing intenslive exploration, construc-
ting and enlarging smelters, and purchasing other properties.
When faced by the reluctance of both the Southern Pacific
Rallroad and the Atchison, Topeka, and the Santa Fe Railroad
to construct the connecting tracks essential for economical
transportation of newly mined copper, Phelps, Dodge, and
Company constructed its own line. By 1924, when it finally
sold out to the Southern Pacific, the company had bullt nearly
1,200 miles of track, with connections to three transcontinental
American railroads and two major Mexican lines. Phelps Dodge's
influence was fully evident in the town of Bisbee as well.
Before 1885 Bisbee had been a typical rowdy Western mining camp;
after Phelps Dodge moved in, it became a company town, preslded
over by the Phelps Dodge General Office Bullding, constructed
in the heart of the town in 1895. The company's determination
to dominate the mining area and the town became most pronounced
in its opposition to labor organization and its support of the
Bisbee Deportation, a notorious vielation of civil liberties
which received wide publicity throughout the country. On July
12, 1917, 1,186 men, reputedly members of the Industrial Workers
of the World, were rounded up by the sheriff and a group of
citizens, put in Phelps Dodge boxcars, hauled into the desert,
and denled reentrance to the town. The power and influence of
the company was never more clearly 1llustrated.

The focus of Phelps, Dodge, and Company on its copper
mining and refining operations became even more evident in
1906, when the firm publicly ceased 1ts trade activities after
a final shipment of tin from England. Recognizing the

(continued)

7Cleland, History of Phelps Dodge, 101.

8ue gger Queen Mining," Bisbee Daily Review, 1913
Mining Ed ion. . GPO 892 455
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potential profits from the new age of electriclty, the firm
focused its full attention on the Arizona copper industry,
which, in the next year, took the lead 1n the U.S. in domestic
production of the metal. In 1908, in line with the new demands
placed upon the company and with the trends in business manage-
ment, the partnership that had begun in 1834 came to an end,
yielding to a new corporate structure established by action of
the stockholders of the Copper Queen Consolidated Mining Company
and three other subsidiary mining companles that had been
acquired under the old partnership. The new corporation was
only a holding company, but in 1917 the controlling Copper Queen
Company directed an internal reorganization that resulted in

the formation of an operating company, the present-day Phelps
Dodge Corporation. By World War I, neither the activitlies nor
the organization of the Phelps Dodge company resembled the
original venture begun by Anson Phelps, but the new corporatlon
did reflect the industrialization and management revolution

that had swept the United States at the turn of the century,
ushering the Nation into a new age of modern lndustrial glants.

The transformation of Phelps Dodge was not yet complete,
however, for in the years after the war the company continued
to adjust to the new economic pressures and undertook further
vertical integration through expansion of its refining and
fabrication facilities and horizontal lntegration through the
acquisition of such former competitors as Calumet and Arizona
in 1931. Ever aware of the necessity of maintaining new
sources, Phelps Dodge turned to new methods for extracting
copper from the remailning low grade ores, most notably 1n the
strip mining operations at Sacramento Hill and the Lavender
Pit in Arizona. By 1950, the company was considered one of the
"Big Four" copper producers responsible for mining 90 percent
of the United States' copper. But as copper prices declined
and new sources opened up in South America and Africa, further
operations at the Copper Queen became unprofitable. In 1975
the mines were closed. But the Phelps Dodge General Office
Building remains, a symbol of the legendary Arlzona copper
mining industry and of the importance of Phelps Dodge in the
growth and development of the modern American economy for

almost 150 years.

GPO 892 455
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